POLICY PAPER

February 2016



CUPE ALBERTA 2016 CONVENTION Edmonton, Alberta



Table of Contents

SUMMARY	I
INTRODUCTION	1
THE ECONOMY	1
Actions	5
POVERTY AND HOMELESSNESS	6
Actions	9
INCREASING CUPE'S BARGAINING POWER	10
Actions	11
PENSIONS	11
Actions	12
MENTAL HEALTH AT WORK	13
Actions	16
PRIVATIZATION	17
WHAT IS PRIVATIZATION?	17
Public Private Partnerships	19
Outsourcing	20
Actions	21
SUPPORTING AN AGING POPULATION	22
Actions	25
CONCLUSION	25
ENDNOTES	27

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Economy

Alberta's economy is suffering. Crude prices continue to plunge. Job losses continue to mount. Alberta's economy needs stimulus to dull the pain in the short-term and diversification to stabilize and strengthen Alberta's economy in the long-term.

The federal and provincial governments have announced billions of dollars in infrastructure spending. Infrastructure investment will address Alberta's considerable infrastructure deficit, provide Albertans with jobs and stimulate the economy. Diversification options include growing Alberta's value added petrochemical sector and petro-alternative energy sector.

Action #1

CUPE Alberta will continue to lobby the Alberta government to continue to invest in public services and infrastructure even as government revenues decrease.

Action #2

CUPE Alberta will lobby the provincial government to diversify Alberta's economy.

Action #3

CUPE Alberta will advocate for the development of public petro-alternative energy technology, production, transmission and distribution, and the establishment of petro-alternative jobs, in Alberta.

Action #4

CUPE Alberta will advocate for increasing value added industry in Alberta such as upgrading and processing of raw energy resources, to get more jobs for every barrel of oil extracted.

Poverty and Homelessness

Alberta is rapidly shedding jobs, leaving more workers with fewer opportunities. As labour supply exceeds demand, it is exceedingly important to ensure that all Albertans are protected by collective agreements and progressive employment and health and safety standards.

Increasing living wage density will leave fewer Albertans working in poverty. Expanding universal healthcare will help struggling Albertan families to meet their basic health needs.

Municipalities have made some progress on housing the homeless. Still, more is needed as wait lists for social housing continue to grow. Investing in public social housing will provide jobs and low-cost housing for Albertans, while shrinking Alberta's annual poverty related costs.

Action #5

CUPE Alberta will work with CUPE Locals to encourage Alberta employers to become living wage employers.

Action #6

CUPE Alberta will advocate for the implementation of Alberta's 10 year plan to end homelessness.

Action #7

CUPE Alberta will lobby the provincial government to further increase the minimum wage and improve employment standards and enforcement mechanisms, including Alberta's *Employment Standards Code* and Occupational Health and Safety legislation. CUPE Alberta will also lobby the provincial government to amend the *Labour Relations Code* to make it easier to form a union and bargain a fair collective agreement.

Action #8

CUPE Alberta will advocate for the expansion of universal health care coverage.

Action #9

CUPE Alberta will work with CUPE Locals in supporting the development of school meal programs.

Action #10

CUPE Alberta will advocate for Housing First programs for those with addiction and mental health challenges.

Increasing CUPE's Bargaining Power

Alberta's ailing economy and high unemployment rate will create bargaining challenges in both the public and private sector. Changes to Alberta's Labour Code and increased organizing efforts are needed to counterbalance employer power.

Alberta government revenues have declined significantly. CUPE will need to remain vigilant to ensure that public sector collective agreements are honoured and CUPE members continue to make gains, whether monetary or non-monetary, even in these difficult times.

Action #11

CUPE Alberta will endorse CUPE National's strategy for organizing.

Action #12

CUPE Alberta will oppose efforts to break contracts with public sector workers.

Action #13

CUPE Alberta will continue to strengthen and build relationships with community partners.

Pensions

The Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP) benefits members, the province and the economy. Currently, the Minister of Finance is the sole legal trustee of the LAPP. Primary decision making power should rest with the parties who pay for and benefit from the plan and who are exposed to the risks of deficiencies. That is why CUPE supports joint governance of the LAPP.

Expanding the Canadian Pension Plan will bring greater retirement security to Albertans and benefit Alberta's economy. In order for CPP to be amended, the federal government along with 2/3 of the included provinces, making up 2/3 of the population, must agree to the amendments. The support and leadership of the Alberta government is crucial on this file.

Action #14

CUPE Alberta will continue to lobby the Alberta government to make the changes necessary to establish joint governance of LAPP.

Action #15

CUPE Alberta will continue to support the expansion of the CPP and work with the Canadian Labour Congress, the Alberta Federation of Labour and other unions to double the CPP.

Action #16

CUPE Alberta will lobby the Alberta government to support the expansion of the CPP.

Action #17

CUPE Alberta will lobby the federal government to support the expansion of the CPP.

Mental Health at Work

One in five Canadians will suffer from mental illness in their lifetime. Suicides are up by a third in Alberta and suicide is the number one cause of death for First Nations under the age of 44.

Alberta needs to improve and expand the services available for those Albertans suffering from mental illness and addiction. However, even the best services are only a benefit to those who seek them out and stigma prevents an estimated two thirds of individuals experiencing mental illness from seeking help. Significant efforts must be made to eliminate the stigma associated with mental illness.

Significant efforts must also be made to prevent mental illness where possible. Seventy-five percent of mental health issues begin during childhood or adolescence and mental and emotional well-being are

affected by very early life experiences. Working conditions also have a profound impact on mental health and well-being. As many as a quarter of Canadian workplaces are mentally injurious.

Action #18

CUPE Alberta will lobby employers to adopt the National Standard of Canada for Psychological Health and Safety in the Workplace.

Action #19

CUPE Alberta will support member driven campaigns to increase mental health awareness and decrease stigmas around mental health.

Action #20

CUPE Alberta will lobby the provincial government to enact improvements to Alberta's Workers' Compensation and Occupational Health and Safety legislation to better promote mental health in the workplace.

Action #21

CUPE Alberta will evaluate and provide feedback on the Alberta Mental Health Review Committee Recommendations and lobby for the implementation of the recommendations supported by CUPE.

Action #22

CUPE Alberta will lobby the federal government to implement the 94 recommendations from the summary report released by the Truth and Reconciliation Commission on June 2, 2015 to reduce and repair the damage inflicted on First Nations, Métis, and Inuit peoples by the Indian Residential School system.

Action #23

CUPE Alberta will continue to advocate for better funding for K-12 education.

Action #24

CUPE Alberta will continue to support better classroom supports for special needs students.

Action #25

CUPE Alberta will support actions designed to make schools supportive atmospheres for students.

Privatization

Pro-privatization interest groups will be keen to capitalize on the significant infrastructure money promised by the federal and provincial governments.

P3 financing of public infrastructure is more expensive and more risky than public financing. Contracting out public services costs more and delivers less. Workers suffer, as their jobs and collective agreement rights are eliminated.

CUPE must work with members, provincial and municipal governments to limit the use of P3s and contracting out in Alberta.

Action #26

CUPE Alberta will assist CUPE Locals in lobbying local governments to stop using P3s, including through educating local governments on the costs of P3s and on alternative financing models.

Action #27

CUPE Alberta will continue to lobby the Alberta government to prohibit the use of P3s for all new capital projects.

Action #28

CUPE Alberta will lobby Alberta's provincial and local governments to increase transparency regarding capital projects and service contracts including complete disclosure of the financial details of P3 business cases and contracts.

Action #29

CUPE Alberta will lobby the Alberta government to pass contracting out successorship legislation.

Supporting an Aging Population

Over 1,500 Alberta seniors are on wait lists for continuing care placement and staffing levels in long-term care facilities are too low. Government should divert fewer, of the already limited, seniors care dollars to private sector profits and invest in quality public seniors' care. These investments will need to be accompanied by standards and enforcement mechanisms to ensure that quality care is actually being delivered.

The Alberta NDP platform included promises to create 2,000 public long-term care beds and phase in a new model for expanded public homecare. CUPE should work to hold them to these promises.

Action #30

CUPE Alberta will lobby the Alberta government to enact reasonable minimum standards for seniors' care, with appropriate funding and enforcement mechanisms.

Action #31

CUPE Alberta will lobby Alberta's provincial and local governments to open more public long-term care and home care services for Albertans, with appropriate funding.

Action #32

CUPE Alberta will continue to work with seniors' care coalitions throughout the province.

INTRODUCTION

Stormy economic skies followed Alberta from 2015 into 2016. Years of misdirected policy has made it difficult for Alberta to weather the storm. Alberta's 2017 economic outlook will depend on decisions made in the very near term, including policy decisions made by government and the public's desire for change.

Labour also has an important role to play in enhancing Alberta's future. Conservative interests will do their best to capitalize on Alberta's economic woes to shrink taxes and public services, and expand privatization. If we want an Alberta with a robust economy, quality public services and infrastructure, and quality jobs for Albertans, we will need to be innovative and act strategically to stymic conservative efforts and renew the Alberta advantage.

THE ECONOMY

Global oil prices have taken a nosedive. Between 2010 and 2014, ample demand for oil vaulted prices to the \$100 USD per barrel range. Regional conflicts restricted supply, helping to augment prices. Those high prices resulted in increased exploration and innovation, including fracking, directional drilling and steam extraction - leading to even more exploration and an explosion of production.

Mid-2014 saw global demand start to wane, as production kept climbing. That's when prices started to fall. OPEC members did not cut production and neither did anyone else. Oil production continued to rise. ¹

Meanwhile, weak economic outlooks in China, Russia and Brazil continue to soften demand and Iran is back in the global market, further adding to supply.

Then, there is the global inventories of oil. As prices plummeted, oil started being socked away for post rebound sale. But the price has yet to rebound and global inventories

increased by a billion barrels in 2014-2015.² The International Energy Agency speculates that oil could continue to dive:

... The strength of the dollar will inevitably impact on local currency costs for oil importers and thus exert pressure on oil demand growth. For China, for so long the engine of global demand growth, we expect demand to increase by 350 [thousand barrels per day], below the recent trend level.

Although we do not formally forecast OPEC oil production, in a scenario whereby Iran adds 600 kb/d to the market by mid-year and other members maintain current output, global oil supply could exceed demand by 1.5 [million barrels per day] in the first half of 2016. While the pace of stock building eases in the second half of the year as supply from non-OPEC producers falls, unless something changes, the oil market could drown in over-supply. So the answer to our question is an emphatic yes. It could go lower.³

Crude oil can be light (less viscous) or heavy (more viscous), sour (more sulphur) or sweet (less sulphur). Refiners prefer light, sweet crude oil because it requires less effort to produce a greater yield of higher value products. The heavy, sour oil produced from Bitumen in Alberta trades at a discount compared to light, sweet oil.^{4 5}

For example, in June 2014, just before the crash, West Texas Intermediate (WTI) (light, sweet North American crude) was trading at \$105.15 USD per barrel, while Western Canadian Select (WCS) (heavy, sour North American crude) was trading at \$86.56 USD per barrel. By December 2015, WTI was trading at \$37.33 and WCS was trading at \$22.51.6

The price on heavy crude has dropped to a point where some producers are losing money on the oil they are selling; and new projects simply do not make sense. Companies in the sands are loath to shut down because of the risk to their equipment and the oilfield, but they cannot run on fumes forever.⁷

Neither can Albertans. If there are no jobs to replace the petro-jobs we have already lost, and those hanging on by a thread, Alberta's economic situation could get a lot worse in a hurry.

Alberta is the only Canadian province to broadly offer non-recourse residential mortgages. Those are loans with at least a 20 per cent down payment and thus are not insured by the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC).

Jingle mail — the act of walking away from an underwater mortgage by mailing your keys back to the bank — is a peculiarity of the Alberta residential market and an act of desperation. However, a combination of high debt and lost jobs make it an option in a province going through a significant economic reckoning.

"We're slowly starting to see it in Grande Prairie and Fort Mac," said Don Campbell, senior analyst with the Real Estate Investment Network.

If you walk away, you lose your home, but otherwise have no personal liability. Elsewhere in Canada, your lender can take you to court and seize other assets, such as RRSPs, vehicles, and even garnishee your wages.⁸

Alberta clearly needs an economic boost, but has limited options, especially in the short-term. Essentially, there are two levers. The Bank of Canada ("BoC") can decrease its key interest rate (monetary policy) and government can increase (or decrease) public spending and taxes (fiscal policy).

The BoC key interest rate (also known as the target for the overnight rate⁹) stands at 0.5%. That does not leave a lot of room for cuts. The BoC is a mere 25 basis points away from its record low rate, seen in the wake of the 2008 financial crisis.¹⁰

Late last year, the European Central Bank dropped its deposit rate to minus 0.3% (meaning that it charges banks 0.3% to hold their cash) and the Bank of Japan (BOJ) followed suit, cutting its interest rate to minus 0.1% at the end of January 2016.¹¹

BoC Governor, Stephen Poloz has suggested that BoC might be willing to go as low as minus 0.5%. But Poloz said BoC had no plans for negative rates. However, that is exactly what BoJ Governor, Haruhiko Kuroda said less than two weeks before his surprise trek into negative territory.¹²

Nonetheless, January's policy announcement saw BoC holding steady at 0.5%, opting to see what the federal government had in store in terms of stimulus before making any moves. The next interest rate announcement is scheduled for March 9, 2016.¹³ ¹⁴

That leaves fiscal policy. Both the federal and provincial government have announced that they will make substantial investments in public infrastructure, which is good timing because Alberta's economy isn't the only thing in Alberta that needs a boost.

The 2016 "Canadian Infrastructure Report Card" produced by the Canadian Construction Association, the Canadian Public Works Association, the Canadian Society for Civil Engineering and the Federation of Canadian Municipalities, indicates that about 1/3 of Canada's municipal infrastructure, or \$141B worth, is in poor or very poor condition. ¹⁵ In its August 2015 Budget and capital plan submission, the Alberta Urban Municipalities Association estimated the municipal infrastructure deficit in Alberta at \$26B. ¹⁶

Alberta also urgently needs a well thought out, yet aggressive, strategy for diversifying its petro-heavy economy. Government must ensure that its resources are directed towards a more diversified economy.

But it's complicated. With supply vastly outstripping demand, sustained production could put downward pressure on oil and gas prices. Meanwhile, in the short-term, stalling production puts more Albertans out of work.

Intensive investment in sustainable petro-alternative energy technology, production, transmission and distribution is an attractive option. Alberta has lots of sunshine and wind.¹⁷ Harnessing and distributing it as energy would diversify the economy and provide jobs.

The UN is urging a quicker pace for sustainable, clean energy investment and in late January, UN Secretary-General, Ban Ki-moon outlined five steps he thinks are needed. The steps he advised included pension funds using "their influence as investors and shareholders to accelerate the rapid decarbonisation of the economy" and that the banking sector should "continue scaling up the green bond market while changing its lending practices to support green investments and reflect the growing risk inherent in the brown economy."¹⁸

It just so happens that Alberta owns a bank (ATB) and an investment company (Alberta Investment Management Corp (AIMCo)). AIMCo manages almost \$40B in pension funds¹⁹ including the LAPP fund.

Ki-Moon also challenged governments "to create a level playing field for clean energy investment through carbon pricing, removing fossil fuel subsidies, and strengthening stable and predictable regulator and investment environments."

Alberta was the first jurisdiction in North America to introduce carbon pricing in 2007 in its *Specified Gas Emitters Regulation* (SGER).²⁰ The NDP's Climate Leadership Plan builds on this regulation in a number of ways including expanding who has to pay and upping the price on carbon to \$20 per tonne starting January 2017 and \$30 by 2018.

Alberta's 2015 Capital Plan includes a \$34B infrastructure investment over 5 years. The feds promised to double federal infrastructure spending to \$125B over the next decade.

The additional \$60B in federal dollars is expected to be spent on public transit, social infrastructure (affordable housing, seniors' and childcare facilities, and recreational infrastructure), and "greener communities", including local water and wastewater facilities, environmental retrofits and clean energy.

The trick is in the timing. The feds only plan to spend about \$17B in new money over the next four years²¹, with the first \$10B expected for new projects, repairs or recapitalization before 2018.²² However, on February 3, 2016, the feds committed to expedite \$700M of the existing Building Canada allocation to Alberta.²³

Such investments present an opportunity to heal Alberta's ailing infrastructure and economy and tip the scales in favour of public ownership/maintenance/operation of Alberta's public infrastructure.

However, these funds also present an attractive target to pro-privatization interest groups who already have syphons in hand.²⁴

ACTIONS

CUPE Alberta will:

- continue to lobby the Alberta government to continue to invest in public services and infrastructure even as government revenues decrease.
- lobby the provincial government to diversify Alberta's economy.

- advocate for the development of public petro-alternative energy technology, production, transmission and distribution, and the establishment of petroalternative jobs, in Alberta.
- advocate for increasing 'value added' industries in the province, such as upgrading and processing of raw energy resources, to get more jobs for every barrel of oil extracted.

POVERTY AND HOMELESSNESS

Alberta's economy is collapsing under the weight of falling oil and gas prices and the impact of this collapse extends well beyond the oil patch, with about 2 indirect jobs lost for every 1 in the oil and gas sector.²⁵

Back in 2012, Vibrant Calgary and Action to End Poverty in Alberta estimated that the annual price tag on Albertan poverty was between \$7.1B and \$9.5B, including \$1.2B in health care costs and \$560M in costs attributable to crime.²⁶

Alberta is already seeing elevated levels of property crime, food bank usage and mental ill-health. In December 2015, police reported that commercial break-ins in Calgary had almost doubled; bank robberies increased by 65% and home invasions were up 52%.²⁷

The November 2015 EI roll hosted double the number of Albertans as compared to last year and December 2015's unemployment rate surpassed 2014's 4.8%, at 7%.²⁸ The extra EI recipients were disproportionately men, which will likely mean a disproportionate reduction in income, with women earning about 40% less than men²⁹ and making up 69% of the low wage work force.³⁰

Alberta is eyeing Ottawa for an augmented EI system to help ease the blow of Alberta's soaring jobless count, as tens of thousands of Albertans struggle to get back on their feet within the 40-week grace period EI provides for out of work Albertans.³¹

While Canada's dragging dollar has likely buoyed Canada's labour market, it is making it difficult for Albertans to put healthy food on the table. Canada imports most (approximately 80%) of its fresh fruits and vegetables. As the buying power of the loonie

deteriorates, grocery store prices increase.³² The price of fruits and vegetables increased by about 10% last year, with more price hikes expected.³³

Lower-income households are most severely affected because food generally accounts for a larger chunk of their income and the number of lower-income households can be expected to rise as layoffs stack up.

Getting Albertan's back to work is critical to staving off increased levels of poverty in Alberta. However, in Alberta, having a job does not guarantee living out of poverty.

In 2009, when Alberta announced its 10 year plan to end homelessness, becoming the first province to commit to ending homelessness, 25% of Alberta's homeless population were employed.

In 2012, 143,200 Albertan kids already lived below the poverty line and most of these kids lived in families with one or more full-time workers.³⁴ This is not surprising given that over 414,000 Albertans earn \$16 per hour or less.³⁵

Investing in public housing will provide jobs and low-cost housing for Albertans while shrinking Alberta's annual poverty related costs.³⁶ Alberta's plan to end homelessness included a promise to provide permanent housing and support to Alberta's homeless population. The 2009 price tag on moving 11,000 Albertan individuals and families out of homelessness was \$3.3 billion.³⁸

The Alberta government has invested little in social housing since 2011.³⁹ Meanwhile, in Edmonton alone, the number of families on the waiting list for social housing shot up to 4000 in December last year, from 1,200 in September 2014,⁴⁰ despite significant progress made by municipalities. In 2009, Calgary, Edmonton, Grande Prairie, Lethbridge, Medicine Hat, Red Deer and Wood Buffalo adopted the Housing First model.

Housing First is a recovery-oriented approach to homelessness that involves moving people who experience homelessness into independent and permanent housing as quickly as possible, with no preconditions, and then providing them with additional services and supports as needed. The underlying principle of Housing First is that people are more successful in moving forward with their lives if they are first housed. This is as true for homeless people and those with mental health and addiction issues as it is for anyone.

Housing is not contingent upon readiness, or on 'compliance' (for instance, sobriety). Rather, it is a rights-based intervention rooted in the philosophy that all people deserve housing, and that adequate housing is a precondition for recovery.⁴¹

By 2014 the seven cities had collectively housed 9,865 homeless Albertans and graduated 3,250 from the Housing First program.⁴²

By February 2015, Lethbridge cut its number of homeless to 140 from 276 in 2008⁴³ and by May 2015, 875 Medicine Hatters (595 adults and 280 children) had secure homes in supportive or subsidized housing.⁴⁴

Unfortunately, the 2014 Alberta Point-in-Time Homeless Count revealed a remaining 6,663 homeless individuals across the seven cities.⁴⁵

Help may be on the way – at least for Calgary and Edmonton. On January 27, 2016 the two cities' mayors met with provincial cabinet to talk about collaboration on affordable housing and poverty reduction.⁴⁶

The importance of helping Albertans stay out of poverty goes beyond finances. Poverty is a powerful determinant of health.⁴⁷ Low income Canadians suffer more illness and die younger. A Canadian Institute on Child's Health paper from 1994, *Health of Canada's Children Report*, compared health and well-being between poor children and children who were not poor:

Health differences were seen in the incidence of illness and death, hospital stays, accidental injuries, mental health and well-being, school achievement and drop-out, family violence and child abuse, among others. In fact, poor children showed higher incidences of just about any health-related problem, however defined.⁴⁸

Elements of the connection between poverty and health include access to food, shelter, safe water and air, and access to health services including dental care, eye care, and access to prescription medication.⁴⁹

Canada's universal health care system does not cover eye care, dental care or prescription drugs. Having a union job can help. In 2002, Statistics Canada reported that, unionized workers were more likely to be covered by extended medical plans, dental plans and

life/disability insurance plans.⁵⁰ Unfortunately, Alberta has the lowest unionization rate (21.8% of all employees are members of a union) of any province in Canada.⁵¹

As labour supply exceeds demand, it is more important than ever to ensure that all Albertans have access to a living wage and are protected by progressive employment and health and safety standards.

Reasonable legislated minimum workplace standards are essential, but unions also have an important role to play. Unionization provides workers with greater job security and tends to elevate wages, benefits and workplace safety.⁵² ⁵³ ⁵⁴

ACTIONS

CUPE Alberta will:

- work with CUPE Locals to encourage Alberta employers to become living wage employers.
- advocate for the implementation of Alberta's 10 year plan to end homelessness.
- lobby the provincial government to further increase the minimum wage and improve employment standards and enforcement mechanisms, including Alberta's *Employment Standards Code* and Occupational Health and Safety legislation.
- lobby the provincial government to amend the *Labour Relations Code* to make it easier to form a union and bargain a fair collective agreement.
- advocate for the expansion of universal health care coverage.
- work with CUPE Locals in supporting the development of school meal programs.
- advocate for Housing First programs for those with addiction and mental health challenges.

INCREASING CUPE'S BARGAINING POWER

When the NDP took power last year they estimated that the deficit would be \$6.1B for 2015-2016 and targeted a \$5.4B deficit for 2016-2017.

The 2016-2017 target deficit was based on oil trading at over double the year to date average price (as of February 11, 2016)⁵⁵ and provincial revenues take a \$170M hit for every \$1 drop in the average price of oil. Government is looking to tighten its belt.⁵⁶

In January 2016, Alberta's Finance Minister, Joe Ceci announced a two year salary freeze for cabinet ministers, MLAs, political staff and approximately 7000 non-union government employees. So far, Ceci says government will not make big cuts to front-line services.⁵⁷

However, with falling provincial revenues, public sector unions must remain vigilant.

Alberta's challenging economic situation will likely create challenging bargaining situations with both public and private sector employers. CUPE can increase its bargaining power, even in these difficult times, by organizing new members and building stronger relationships with our existing members and our community.

Alberta has the lowest unionization rate in Canada. As unemployment in Alberta rises, unscrupulous employers will exploit the surplus in labour to diminish wages and working conditions. For workers without union representation and a grievance procedure, they might just get away with it. Therefore, CUPE must work with its fellow community members to push back against descending working conditions.

An essential element of this push back is organizing new members to counterbalance employer power. Another essential element of this push back is building strong community relationships, such that our community knows that CUPE will be there when it needs support and CUPE knows that our community will be there when CUPE needs support.

The Alberta Labour Relations Code (the "Code") also plays and important role in counterbalancing employer power. However, the existing Code does not provide an

appropriate balance. Amendments are needed to rationalize the process for organizing workers and getting them a collective agreement.

For example, the Code should be amended to provide for: automatic certification where a union has signed up more than 50 percent of a bargaining unit and where an employer is found guilty of breaking the rules during an organizing campaign; collective agreement arbitration for contentious first-agreement negotiations and bad faith bargaining situations; a ban on the use of replacement workers; and an essential services regime that is in line with recent Supreme Court rulings.

ACTIONS

CUPE Alberta will:

- endorse CUPE National's strategy for organizing.
- oppose efforts to break contracts with public sector workers.
- continue to strengthen and build relationships with community partners.

PENSIONS

Almost half of Canadians aged 55 - 64 do not have an employer pension and the vast majority of these Canadians do not have enough money to retire on.⁵⁸

The Canada Pension Plan (CPP) is part of Canada's public retirement income system. CPP is funded through contributions made by workers and employers. Only workers who have contributed to the plan can access CPP benefits and benefits are dependent on the duration and amount of an individual's contributions.

CPP benefit levels are too low. An average pensioner receives just \$550 per month and the maximum monthly benefit (2015) is capped at \$1,065.59

A modest, phased-in increase to contribution rates could fund a doubling of CPP benefits. Expanding CPP would bring greater retirement security to Albertans and would benefit Alberta's economy by putting more spending money in the pockets of retirees.⁶⁰

In order for CPP to be amended, the federal government and 2/3 of the included provinces, making up 2/3 of the population, must agree to the amendments. The support and leadership of the Alberta government is crucial.

Workplace pension plans, like the Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP) provide retirement income in addition to CPP.

In addition to providing seniors with money for their retirement, workplace pension plans reduce pressure on public seniors programs, like the Alberta Seniors Benefit, that base eligibility on earnings.⁶¹ In 2014, LAPP paid out \$886M in benefits to more than 55,000 pensioners.⁶²

Pension plan governance processes determine what a pension's contribution rates and benefit levels will be. Currently, the Minister of Finance is the sole legal trustee of LAPP. Nonetheless, employees help pay for the plan and automatically share in the risk.⁶³ As such, they should be active participants in decision making around plan design, as is typical in other provinces. That is why CUPE, in conjunction with Alberta's Labour Coalition on Pensions, has been lobbying the provincial government to establish joint governance of LAPP.

ACTIONS

CUPE Alberta will:

- continue to lobby the Alberta government to make the changes necessary to establish joint governance of LAPP.
- continue to support the expansion of the CPP and work with the Canadian Labour Congress, the Alberta Federation of Labour and other unions to double the CPP.
- lobby the Alberta government to support the expansion of the CPP.
- lobby the federal government to support the expansion of the CPP.

MENTAL HEALTH AT WORK

Whether personally suffering, or working with a colleague who suffers from mental ill-health, or dealing with mental ill-health or its prevention as part of job duties, most, if not all, CUPE members encounter issues relating to mental health at work at some point in their careers.

About 1 in 5 Canadians will suffer from mental illness in their lifetime.⁶⁴ RiskAnalytica estimated that there were over 6.7 million Canadians living with a mental illness in 2011 and projected that there would be a 31% increase in Canadians living with a mental illness by 2041, 1.2 million of those are expected to be kids 19 years and younger.⁶⁵

Stigma and the risk of being discriminated against often causes those suffering with mental ill-health to do so in silence. Stigma prevents an estimated 2/3 of individuals experiencing mental illness from seeking help and can reduce access to social support networks, which are critical to mental health and well-being.⁶⁶

Stigma around mental illness has disastrous consequences. In early 2015, Edmonton paramedic Greg Turner died from a self-administered lethal dose of medication. His best friend and long-time partner Keith Weller was diagnosed with post-traumatic stress disorder not long after and realized that he had been suffering with the disease for a long-time.

Despite their closeness both on and off the job, neither Weller nor Turner had ever spoken about it to the other.

"That's just the way it is with paramedics," shrugs Weller. "We mask things. We don't like to show signs of weakness, especially to our peers, so we don't talk about it." 67

Thirty-nine Canadian first responders died by suicide in 2015 and five first responders died by suicide in the first month of 2016.⁶⁸

Alberta's emergency rooms see 6,000 self-inflicted injuries every year.⁶⁹ Suicides are up 30% over last year. This year, Alberta is on track to lose 150 lives to suicide over the average 500.⁷⁰

Suicide and self-inflicted injuries are the number two cause of death for Canadian youth⁷¹ and the number one cause of death for First Nations under the age of 44.⁷² Between 20 and 25 percent of Inuit people, First Nations living off reserve and Métis between the ages of 26 and 59 reported having ever had suicidal thoughts.⁷³

The Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada called upon the federal government, in consultation with Aboriginal peoples to identify and close the gaps in health outcomes between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal communities, focusing on indicators including suicide, mental health and addictions.

Prevention is essential. At least 75% of mental health issues begin during childhood or adolescence.⁷⁴ Mental and emotional well-being is affected by very early life experiences. Educating parents, providing family supports (like home visits) and early childhood education results in improved mental health outcomes, with an estimated return on investment of between \$1.80 and \$17.07 for every dollar invested.⁷⁵

The estimated lifetime savings of improving one child's mental health from moderate to high is \$140,000 and \$280,000 for preventing conduct disorders in one child.⁷⁶

The cost of mental ill-health to the Canadian economy is upwards of \$50B. Of this, \$21.3B are health care dollars.⁷⁷ Preventing mental injuries⁷⁸ at work alone could result in annual saving of between \$3B and \$11B.⁷⁹

Working conditions have a profound impact on mental health and well-being. Workers in high demand, high effort jobs with low control and low reward are at greater risk of psychological health repercussions.⁸⁰

...mental distress can come from both work and home. But not all people suffering from mental distress or illnesses walk into the workplace that way. Workers may enter the workplace in full control of their mental distress and then work factors may cause effects that never would have occurred otherwise. Therefore, "accommodating" the condition or providing tools to deal with mental distress may simply not be enough. While those approaches are important, work factors need to be examined and addressed to truly make a difference.

. . .

...the truth is, workplace psychosocial hazards (such as work overload, lack of recognition and rewards, unreasonable or unmanageable deadlines, short-staffing situations, difficult working relationships, pressure for early return to work of injured workers, lack of support from supervisors and colleagues, bullying and harassment, job insecurity, emotional aspects of work) can distress individuals in the workplace causing devastating effects that have potentially permanent consequences. When an individual struggles with work pressures, burdens, or worries large enough or long enough to overcome their coping skills he or she will experience mental distress.

As many as a quarter of Canadian workplaces are mentally injurious.⁸¹ Five hundred thousand employed Canadians are unable to work due to mental ill-health each week⁸² and mental ill-health is a significant cost driver for benefit plans accounting for about 30% of short-term and long-term disability claims.⁸³

Businesses face problems with loyalty and retention and rising costs from higher turnover, lower productivity and increased disability leave. In a recent major Canadian study, 82% of responding organizations ranked mental health conditions in their top three causes of short-term disability (72% for long-term). In fact, the average responding organization reported spending more than \$10.5 million annually on absence claims. Overall, it is estimated that between \$2.97 billion and \$11 billion could be saved every year in Canada if mental injuries to employees attributable in whole or in part to negligent, reckless and intentional acts and omissions of employers, their agents and fellow employees were to be prevented.⁸⁴

Some progress is being made. In 2012 the Occupational Health Clinics for Ontario Workers in conjunction with several provincial unions and the Ontario Federation of Labour, launched a Mental Injury Tool Kit. The Kit was created for workers, by workers, and provides resources and guidance for understanding and dealing with workplace stress.⁸⁵

In 2013, the Canadian Standards Association published a voluntary national standard, to guide employers towards providing psychologically safe and healthy workplaces. Consideration is given to thirteen organizational factors including workload management; work/life balance; clear leadership and expectations; civility and respect;

psychological support; recognition and reward; involvement and influence; and psychological protection from violence, bullying and harassment.⁸⁶

Improving the mental health of Albertans will benefit Albertan families and contribute to the sustainability of Canada's public health care system, benefit plans and economic prosperity. But in July 2015, Alberta's Auditor General reported that "[f]or the most part...the delivery of front line addiction and mental health services remains unintegrated and allows ongoing gaps in service continuity" and that the Department of Health "failed to properly execute" its 2011 five-year mental health and addictions strategy.⁸⁷

Last June, Premier Notley announced that the NDP government would be undertaking a review of Alberta's mental health and addiction system. The final report hit Health Minister Sarah Hoffman's desk late last year and was released to the public on February 22, 2016.88 The report includes about 32 recommendations. The Alberta government has accepted the report in principle but has only announced immediate action on 6 recommendations.

ACTIONS

CUPE Alberta will:

- lobby employers to adopt the National Standard of Canada for Psychological Health and Safety in the Workplace.
- support member driven campaigns to increase mental health awareness and decrease stigmas around mental health.
- lobby the provincial government to enact improvements to Alberta's Workers' Compensation and Occupational Health and Safety legislation to better promote mental health in the workplace.
- evaluate and provide feedback on the Alberta Mental Health Review Committee Recommendations and promote the implementation of recommendations supported by CUPE.

- lobby the federal government to implement the 94 recommendations from the summary report released by the Truth and Reconciliation Commission on June 2, 2015 to reduce and repair the damage inflicted on First Nations, Métis, and Inuit peoples by the Indian Residential School system.
- continue to advocate for better funding for K-12 education.
- continue to support better classroom supports for special needs students.
- support actions designed to make schools supportive atmospheres for students.

PRIVATIZATION

WHAT IS PRIVATIZATION?

Privatization is a broad label for the transfer of public property, business, or services from Government to the private sector. There are three main types of Privatization, explained below.

Selling a Government Enterprise

Selling a Government Enterprise – This type of privatization is the wholesale transfer of a government enterprise to the private sector and can be likened to the sale of a business. Public assets and the services delivered through those assets are sold to the private sector.

Government can see a short-term financial gain from this type of privatization as it sells off its stake to the public sector. However, in the long term, government is no longer able to generate revenue from that enterprise and there can be additional economic and social consequences for members of the public.

This type of privatization can happen through a direct sale from the government to an existing private sector entity or by issuing shares.

Sometimes this type of privatization is preceded by "corporatization". Corporatization is the process of taking an activity that is under direct government administrative control, separating that activity from direct government administrative control and making it a distinct legal entity. Government retains formal ownership.

Corporatization makes it easier to privatize because it creates a distinct business that can be sold. However, corporatization does not always result in Privatization.⁸⁹

Public Private Partnerships

P3 (*a.k.a.* "*Public-Private Partnership*", *a.k.a.* "*PPP*") – A P3 is a partnership between a public sector entity and a private sector entity or entities. The private sector partner agrees to finance, design, build and maintain certain public infrastructure. In some cases the private sector partner will also provide other services in relation to the facility. In exchange, the public sector partner agrees to pay the private sector partner for the infrastructure and related services, and/or to allow the private sector partner to collect tolls or user fees for a period of time after the construction phase of the project is complete, usually decades.

The owner of the infrastructure at the end of the contract will depend on the terms of the contract. However, in most cases, the public sector partner will own the infrastructure.

Arrangements wherein a public sector entity contracts with a private sector entity to provide a service (i.e., contracting out work), use of an asset, or combination of the two (e.g., funding a care bed in a long-term care facility) will be considered under outsourcing.

Outsourcing

Outsourcing (a.k.a. Contracting Out) – Outsourcing is, generally speaking, the transfer of work only. Outsourcing is engaging a private sector entity (a.k.a. a contractor) to provide a discrete service that is traditionally performed in-house. The private sector contractor may or may not be required to provide the assets necessary for the performance of that service.

Of the three types of privatization, outsourcing requires the least government divestment. If the service contract permits, a contractor may also outsource all or part of the service to a sub-contractor.

While it is important to understand the different kinds of privatization, only P3s and outsourcing are discussed below.

PUBLIC PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS

P3 financing almost always has a higher interest rate compared to direct municipal borrowing. This premium might make sense if the risk of the project and delivery of the services could be contracted out. However, because the public sector partner will always ultimately be responsible for delivering the public services they are financing, it is almost impossible (or at least prohibitively expensive) to transfer all of the risk to the private sector partner.

The transactional costs for P3s, including legal and technical advice and administering the bidding process, also generally exceed those of conventional public sector procurement, with average P3 transaction costs more than double those for conventional procurement.⁹⁰

The public does not always go into these deals knowing the risks. Government generally prepares (or hires someone else to prepare) a business case before undertaking a P3 project. A business case provides the rationale for the proposed project and provides an assessment of value for money and risk. P3-friendly consultants can use creative accounting in preparing business cases to make P3s appear less risky and less expensive than they actually are. Without full transparency and access to the numbers, the public may not know the true risks and costs of a project until it is millions of dollars too late.

P3s have been aggressively marketed in Canada. Holdouts received a rather forceful push in 2011 when, then Prime Minister, Stephen Harper required all major infrastructure projects to go through a "P3 screening" before federal funding was on the table. Late last year, the Liberal Government announced that it would no longer require municipalities and provinces to consider P3s before federal support was on the table for their projects. ⁹¹ While this is excellent news, pro-privatization interest groups will no doubt be ramping up their efforts to maximize their take of the federal and provincial infrastructure investments.

Depending exclusively on federal and provincial funding/loans for municipal infrastructure is a risky long-term strategy. Such dependence gives the federal/provincial government a tremendous amount of power over the pace of privatization. The government of the day may be investing in infrastructure in a way that does not require

privatization, but what happens when the money stops flowing, or once again comes with privatization requirements?

Municipalities that do not have enough cash or borrowing capacity to finance a project on their own or through a cost share and that cannot access the federal or provincial financing options in time to meet their needs (or at all) may turn to the private sector for financing. The money comes with strings, risks and markups, but it is accessible to municipalities in the sense that it is available right now and in the sense that municipalities know how to get at it.

Therefore, in addition to understanding the problems with P3s, municipalities need an accessible replacement for the apparently easy money that the private sector is eager to invest.

Late last year, an unnamed "former government official" completed a review of the costs and benefits of public-private partnerships for the Alberta NDP government. The results of this review have not been made public and as of November 2015, government was still considering the report and had yet to determine, "whether or not P3s are a model that gives value to the government in the development of major projects." ⁹²

OUTSOURCING

When a unionized employer contracts out, legally obtained certifications and freely negotiated collective agreement rights disappear. Employees are required to reapply for their jobs, which often come with lower wages and fewer benefits.

Contracting out can also have negative effects on worker health including anxiety, depression and higher injury rates.⁹³

Higher injury rates could be a greater risk in Alberta where workers are only permitted to refuse work on reasonable and probable grounds, joint health and safety committees are not mandatory and the 2013/2014 Occupational Health and Safety Inspection rates indicate that less than 6 businesses are inspected for every 100.94 In 2014, there were 54,500 disabling injury claims in Alberta and 43,428 modified-work claims. The disabling injury claims rate for young workers in 2007 (22.7% of all disabling claims) were slightly higher than their relative participation in the workforce (18% of the total workforce).95

The quality of service provided also often suffers as contractors minimize staffing and supplies to maximize their profits.⁹⁶ For example, Alberta's publicly owned long-term-care facilities provide more hours of care to facility residents than do private sector facilities.⁹⁷

Successorship provisions are designed to ensure that collective bargaining rights are not lost as a result of certain business transactions. Basically, if a business is transferred in the manner contemplated by the relevant successorship provision, the bargaining agent, certification and collective agreement transfer with the business.

The *Alberta Labour Relations Code* (the "Code") provides for successorship, but the provision will generally not be triggered by a transfer of work alone, from one company to another.

It is possible to legislate successorship in contracting out situations. For example, until it was repealed in 2014, the Saskatchewan *Trade Union Act*, provided for successorship where certain services being provided to a public institution or at a building owned by government (provincial or municipal) were contracted out.⁹⁸

Contracting out successorship limits an employer's ability to escape its collective agreement obligations by rearranging its business.

ACTIONS

CUPE Alberta will:

- assist CUPE Locals in lobbying local governments to stop using P3s, including through educating local governments on the costs of P3s and on alternative financing models.
- continue to lobby the Alberta government to prohibit the use of P3s for all new capital projects.
- lobby Alberta's provincial and local governments to increase transparency regarding capital projects and service contracts including complete disclosure of the financial details of P3 business cases and contracts.
- lobby the Alberta government to pass contracting out successorship legislation.

SUPPORTING AN AGING POPULATION

The importance of long-term care goes beyond the \$910 million that the province has spent on it last year alone. If long-term care delivery isn't done right, it can have significant negative impact on the cost and capacity of the rest of the healthcare system. More importantly, without good systems to support long-term care delivery, some Albertans may not have an opportunity to spend their final years in the best possible health.⁹⁹

- Alberta Auditor General Merwan Saher in his October 2014 Follow-Up Audit of Health and Alberta Health Services – Seniors Care in long-term care facilities.

The right mix of seniors' care services can reduce healthcare costs and emergency room wait times and improve quality of life. Most people want to stay in their home for as long as possible as they age and home care is more cost-effective than long-term care. However, as an individual's care needs increase, seniors require timely access to quality long-term care facilities.

Unfortunately, Canada's existing home care and long-term care services are insufficient. A 2015 study by the Conference Board of Canada reported that 461,000 Canadians were not getting the home care they required and 331,000 were getting less home care than they required.¹⁰¹

When they need access to long-term care, Alberta seniors spend an average of 42 days waiting for a continuing care placement in a hospital bed. As of March 31, 2015, there were 1,544 Albertan seniors waiting for a continuing care placement and 690 of those individuals were waiting in a hospital bed.¹⁰²

In October 2014, Alberta Auditor General Merwan Saher found Alberta's long-term care system lacking. Specifically, he recommended that Alberta Health Services beef up its role in monitoring long-term care facilities to ensure that they are actually providing appropriate care and adequate staffing.

A 2015 Health Quality Council of Alberta study reported that four of the top five recommendations from long-term care resident family members were related to

insufficient staffing and that the majority of family members felt that there was a chronic staff shortage at their family member's facility: 103

Family members said that they experienced low staff-to-resident ratios, understaffing, poor staff scheduling especially at high-needs times (e.g., meal times and shift changes), and unavailability of replacement staff in times of staff illness. Overall, they expressed that when low numbers of staff were available, basic care needs such as toileting, transferring, rotating, bathing, and feeding were rushed, overlooked, or not met. In addition, family members said they felt low staffing levels increased staff's risk of making an error, reduced quality of care provided, and had negative consequences for residents' overall health and well-being. ...

. . .

Family members expressed concern that when staff turnover was high, when casual as opposed to permanent full-time staff was employed, or when staff were rotated throughout the facility, residents were unable to establish trusting relationships with them. This prevented staff from becoming familiar with resident care needs, disrupted resident routines, and prevented residents from accepting staff's help.

Family members also discussed the impact low staffing numbers had on staff. Specifically, staff was expected to take on greater responsibility and accomplish more work during their shift than family members thought reasonable. They conveyed concern that staff morale was low because staff sometimes had to compromise quality of care in favour of efficiency. This, according to family members, placed staff at risk of burnout, low job satisfaction, and high turnover.

Alberta's long-term care facilities should be required to provide the 4.1 hours of handson nursing and personal support per resident per day required to avoid jeopardizing the health and safety of long-term care residents.¹⁰⁴

Public delivery of long-term care is also an important element in the quality and sustainability of seniors' care in Alberta. For almost two decades, the Alberta government has privatized and offloaded seniors care to the detriment of Albertans and the profit of the private sector.

In 1999, about half of Alberta's senior care beds were publicly operated. As of March 31, 2015, only about 30% of long-term care beds and 5% of supportive living beds were located in facilities operated by Alberta Health Services. The remaining are beds operated by the for-profit and not-for-profit sector. A 2013 report by the Parkland Institute found that:

While providing inferior care, [Alberta's for-profit residential elder care sector] generate substantial profits. Between 1999 and 2009, private long-term care facilities in the province had an average return on investment [ROI] of 2.1%. Private [assisted living] facilities had much higher returns over that time, with an average ROI of 9.14%. This means that in recent years the returns received by the private residential elder care industry in Alberta have been higher than those of the US stock market, which over the same time-frame had an average return of 1.23%. ¹⁰⁶

The proportion of Albertans aged 65 or older is expected to increase to 19% (up from 11% in 2014) by 2041.¹⁰⁷ Dementia rates will grow as the population ages. In 2011, the cost of dementia in Canada was estimated at \$33 billion, when about 750,000 Canadians were living with dementia. It is expected that more than 1.4 million Canadians will be living with dementia by 2030.¹⁰⁸

If nothing changes, there will be a funding gap for long-term care over the next 35 years. A recent report by the Canadian Life and Health Insurance Association claims that the cost in current dollars of providing long-term care over the next 35 years is conservatively estimated to be almost \$1.2 trillion; current levels of government program and funding support will cover approximately half of that (about \$595 billion). That leaves Canadians with an unfunded long-term care liability of \$590 billion, which is the equivalent of about 95% of all individual registered savings plans in Canada today.¹⁰⁹

That kind of cash is going to get harder and harder to raise. The number of Albertans between 15 and 64 is expected to shrink from 58% of Alberta's population to 44% by 2041 and Alberta's tax base will shrink along with it. ¹¹⁰ Therefore, Alberta urgently needs to establish an efficient, high quality public seniors' care regime.

We may start seeing some progress. The Alberta NDP platform included promises to create 2,000 public long-term care beds over four years, phase in a new model for expanded public homecare and end privatization.

The priorities outlined by Prime Minister Trudeau in his mandate letter to Health Minister Philpott included developing a new multi-year Health Accord that supports the delivery of more and better home care services, including improved access to in-home caregivers, financial supports for family care and palliative care.¹¹¹

Municipalities can also play a role in supporting an aging population by making an effort to plan for seniors' housing supports, community engagement and recreation.¹¹²

Consistent pressure must be applied to the federal, provincial and municipal governments to ensure that investment in quality seniors' care and infrastructure does not fall by the wayside.

ACTIONS

CUPE Alberta will:

- lobby the Alberta government to enact reasonable minimum standards for seniors' care, with appropriate funding and enforcement mechanisms.
- lobby Alberta's provincial and local governments to open more public long-term care and home care services for Albertans, with appropriate funding.
- continue to work with seniors' care coalitions throughout the province.

CONCLUSION

Our future together need not be mired by the oily mess we are in. To the contrary, these extraordinarily tough times bring with them opportunity. Alberta is poised to rebuild public infrastructure and services; increase our stock of social housing; capitalize on petro-alternative energy sources; decrease negative stigma around mental health issues and make it easier for people to get help; strengthen public pensions and ensure that our aging population is taken care of in a way that reflects both their value to our community

and our values as a community. We can support these aims, all while increasing CUPE's bargaining power.

ENDNOTES

¹ Plumer, B. (January 25, 2016). Why crude oil prices keep falling and falling, in one simple chart. *Vox*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.vox.com/2016/1/12/10755754/crude-oil-prices-falling

- ² International Energy Agency (January 19, 2016). Oil Market Report Highlights. Retrieved February 10, 2016 from https://www.iea.org/oilmarketreport/omrpublic/currentreport/
- ³ International Energy Agency (January 19, 2016). Oil Market Report Highlights. Retrieved February 10, 2016 from https://www.iea.org/oilmarketreport/omrpublic/currentreport/
- ⁴ Switzer, M. (November 21, 2013). Explaining oil price differentials. *Business News Network*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.bnn.ca/News/2013/11/21/Explaining-oil-price-differentials-0.aspx
- ⁵ Alberta Energy. Oil Prices and Value. Retrieved February 9, 2016 from http://www.energy.gov.ab.ca/Oil/760.asp
- ⁶ Alberta. Economic Dashboard. Energy Prices. Retrieved February 9, 2016 from http://economicdashboard.albertacanada.com/EnergyPrice
- ⁷ Crooks, E. (January 25, 2016). Investment in Canadian oil and gas to be further slashed. *The Financial Times*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/91fe0582-c388-11e5-b3b1-7b2481276e45.html#axzz3zkfxa7dv
- ⁸ Johnson, T. (February 9, 2016). Jingle mail rears its ugly head in Alberta again. *CBC News*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.cbc.ca/beta/news/canada/calgary/jingle-mail-alberta-housing-1.3430867.
- ⁹ Because the amount of money in loans, withdrawals and deposits that a bank sees in a day fluctuates, a bank may end up with a shortage or surplus of cash at the end of a given business day. In order for the banking system to remain stable and liquid, those banks with a shortage of money have to remedy that shortage before start of the following business day. So, they borrow from those banks with an end of day surplus. The overnight rate is the interest rate that the borrowing bank pays the lending bank for the overnight loan. The BoC sets a target level for the average overnight interest rate. This target rate is called the key interest rate, or target for the overnight rate, or key policy rate. The interest rate that the BoC pays on deposits is usually 25 basis points below its key interest rate. However, when the key interest rate drops to 0.25 the

deposit rate and the key interest rate are the same. (See: Target for the Overnight Rate. (January 2016). Bank of Canada, Backgrounders. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.bankofcanada.ca/wp-content/uploads/2010/11/target_overnight_rate_jan2016.pdf.pdf)

- ¹⁰ Nicolaou, A.; Kaminska, I. (January 20, 2016). Canada slashes 2-year growth forecast. *The Financial Times*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/786acde2-bf89-11e5-846f-79b0e3d20eaf.html#axzz3zkfxa7dv
- ¹¹ Harding, R. (January 29, 2016). Bank of Japan adopts negative interest rates. *The Financial Times*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.ft.com/fastft/2016/01/29/boj-adopts-negative-interest-rate/
- ¹² Evans, P. (December 8, 2015).Negative interest rates an option in Canada, Stephen Poloz says. *CBC News*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.cbc.ca/news/business/stephen-poloz-monetary-policy-1.3355704; Kihara, L. (January 21, 2015).BOJ's Kuroda says no plan to adopt negative rates now. Reuters. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.reuters.com/article/us-japan-economy-boj-idUSKCN0UZ0AN
- ¹³ McNeely, A. (January 18, 2016). Bank of Canada to cut key rate to zero in 2016, Barclays says. [Report on Business]. *The Globe and Mail*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.24news.ca/the-news/economic-news/194355-bank-of-canada-to-cut-key-rate-to-zero-in-2016-barclays-says; Sorensen, C. (December 9, 2015). What exactly are negative interest rates anyway? *MACLEAN'S*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.macleans.ca/economy/what-exactly-are-negative-interest-rates-anyway/; Jones, C.; Moore, E. (December 3, 2015). ECB pledges to extend easing until March 2017 'or beyond'. *The Financial Times*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/88d23588-99b6-11e5-987b-d6cdef1b205c.html#axzz3zkfxa7dv; Key Interest Rate. Bank of Canada. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.bankofcanada.ca/core-functions/monetary-policy/key-interest-rate/.
- ¹⁴ Shmuel, J. (February 10, 2016) Recession warning signals flash; Widening spreads a sign of trouble; 'This is real'. *National Post*. Retrieved February 10, 2016 from Infomart.
- ¹⁵ Informing the Future: The 2016 Canadian Infrastructure Report Card. (2016). Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.canadainfrastructure.ca/downloads/Canadian_Infrastructure_Report_2016.pdf
- ¹⁶ AUMA. (August 2015).2015 budget and capital plan submission. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from

http://www.auma.ca/sites/default/files/document_library/budget_2015_and_capital_plan_final.pdf

- ¹⁷ Bell, J., Weis, T. (April 2009).Greening the Grid: Powering Alberta's Future with Renewable Energy. *The Pembina Institute*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from https://www.pembina.org/reports/greeningthegrid-report.pdf
- ¹⁸ Ban Ki-moon's remarks at Investor Summit on Climate Risk (January 27, 2016).Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/blog/2016/01/ban-ki-moons-remarks-at-investor-summit-on-climate-risk/
- ¹⁹ Our Clients | What We Do | AIMCo. (n.d.). Retrieved February 11, 2016, from https://www.aimco.alberta.ca/What-We-Do/Our-Clients
- ²⁰ Dobson, S. Winter, J. The case for a carbon tax in Alberta. *University of Calgary School of Public Policy Research Papers*, Volume 8, Issue 40, November 2015. Retrieved from http://www.policyschool.ucalgary.ca/sites/default/files/research/gas-emitters-regulation-winter-dobson.pdf
- ²¹ Fekete, J. (January 23, 2016). The Big Shortfall: Preparing the budget promises to be a mammoth financial headache for the Liberals. *National Post*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.24news.ca/the-news/canada-news/195776-the-big-shortfall-preparing-the-budget-promises-to-be-a-mammoth-financial-headache-for-liberals
- ²² Rider, D. (January 21, 2016). Cities can use stimulus cash for repairs, Ottawa confirms. The *Toronto Star*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.thestar.com/news/city_hall/2016/01/21/infrastructure-minister-wants-stimulus-cash-to-flow-by-summer.html
- ²³ Alberta Government. (February 3, 2016). Joint Statement by the Prime Minister of Canada and the Premier of Alberta. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.alberta.ca/release.cfm?xID=401789F6A4A95-B653-73FA-B802E2B96BE5B804
- ²⁴ National Post. (January 28, 2016). Canadian capital markets expect P3 financing windfall from Ottawa's stimulus spending. *National Post*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.24news.ca/the-news/economic-news/197112-canadian-capital-markets-expect-p3-financing-windfall-from-ottawas-stimulus-spending
- ²⁵ Tombe, T. (January 14, 2016). Alberta needs a reality check on calls for diversification, says economist Trevor Tombe. *CBC News*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/calgary/economics-future-recession-downturn-1.3401013

- ²⁶ Briggs, A. & Lee, C.R. (2012). Poverty Costs: An Economic Case for a Preventative Poverty Reduction Strategy in Alberta. Calgary: Vibrant Communities Calgary and Action to End Poverty in Alberta. Retrieved from http://www.vibrantcalgary.com/uploads/pdfs/Poverty_Costs.pdf
- ²⁷ Penty, R.; Van Loon, J. (December 22, 2015). The Oil Price Crash is Taking a Heavy Toll on Canada. And the Worst is Yet to Come. *Bloomberg Business*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2015-12-23/calgary-woes-spread-as-oil-patch-spending-cuts-deepen-in-2016
- ²⁸ Alberta Economic Dashboard: Unemployment Rate. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://economicdashboard.albertacanada.com/Unemployment.
- ²⁹ CBC News. (March 4, 2015). Alberta has nation's biggest wage gap for women, report says. *CBC News*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/edmonton/alberta-has-nation-s-biggest-wage-gap-for-women-report-says-1.2982145
- ³⁰ No Change: After 25 years of promises, it's time to eliminate child poverty. November 2014. Edmonton Social Planning Council. Retrieved from https://www.edmontonsocialplanning.ca/index.php/resources/digital-resources/f-social-issues/f07-children/240-no-change-after-25-years-of-promises-its-time-to-eliminate-child-poverty/file
- ³¹ Varcose, C. (January 25, 2016). Alberta calls for federal government to increase EI benefits after falling oil prices trigger thousands of layoffs. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.24news.ca/the-news/canada-news/196105-alberta-calls-for-federal-government-to-increase-ei-benefits-after-falling-oil-prices-trigger-thousands-of-layoffs
- ³² Kawa, L. (January 13, 2016). Canadians Are Going Loonie on Social Media About Skyrocketing Grocery Bills. *Bloomberg Business*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2016-01-13/canadians-are-going-loonie-on-social-media-about-skyrocketing-grocery-bills
- ³³ The Canadian Press. (January 12, 2016). Cheap Canadian dollar making fruits and vegetables much more expensive. *CBC*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.cbc.ca/news/business/loonie-grocery-costs-1.3399841
- ³⁴ No Change: After 25 years of promises, it's time to eliminate child poverty. November 2014. Edmonton Social Planning Council. Retrieved from https://www.edmontonsocialplanning.ca/index.php/resources/digital-resources/f-social-

issues/f07-children/240-no-change-after-25-years-of-promises-its-time-to-eliminate-child-poverty/file

- ³⁵ A Plan for Alberta: Ending Homelessness in 10 Years. Prepared by the Alberta Secretariat for Action on Homelessness. October 2008. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://humanservices.alberta.ca/documents/PlanForAB_Secretariat_final.pdf
- ³⁶ Briggs, A. & Lee, C.R. (2012). Poverty Costs, An Economic Case for a Preventative Poverty Reduction Strategy in Alberta. Calgary: Vibrant Communities Calgary and Action to End Poverty in Alberta. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.vibrantcalgary.com/uploads/pdfs/Poverty_Costs.pdf
- ³⁷ Alberta Secretariat for Action on Homelessness. (October 2008). A plan for Alberta: Ending homelessness in 10 years. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://humanservices.alberta.ca/documents/PlanForAB_Secretariat_final.pdf
- ³⁸ Alberta Secretariat for Action on Homelessness. (October 2008). A plan for Alberta: Ending homelessness in 10 years. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://humanservices.alberta.ca/documents/PlanForAB_Secretariat_final.pdf
- ³⁹ CBC News. September 11, 2015. 10-year plan to end homelessness in Alberta falls short. *CBC News*. Retrieved from http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/edmonton/10-year-plan-to-end-homelessness-in-alberta-falls-short-1.3223712
- ⁴⁰ Sinnema, J. (December 29, 2015). Need for social housing in Alberta triples in past year. *Edmonton Journal*. Retrieved from http://edmontonjournal.com/news/local-news/need-for-social-housing-in-alberta-triples-in-past-year
- ⁴¹ Stephen Gaetz, Fiona Scott & Tanya Gulliver (Eds.) (2013): Housing First in Canada: Supporting Communities to End Homelessness. Toronto: Canadian Homelessness Research Network Press. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/HousingFirstInCanada.pdf
- ⁴² Turner, A. (February 5, 2015).7 cities on housing and homelessness. 2014 Alberta Point-in-Time Homeless Count: Provincial Report. Retrieved from http://media.wix.com/ugd/ff2744_82ee4dec83f24f60a821cee54bec8990.pdf
- ⁴³ Lough, B. (February 5, 2015). 'Housing first' strategy seeing success across Alberta. *Global News*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://globalnews.ca/news/1815054/housing-first-strategy-seeing-success-across-alberta/

⁴⁴ Wong, J. (April 25, 2015).In Medicine Hat, Homelessness Is (Almost) Over. *The Tyee*. Retrieved from http://thetyee.ca/News/2015/04/25/mIn-Medicine-Hat-Homelessness-Is-Almost-Over/

- ⁴⁵ Turner, A. (February 5, 2015).7 cities on housing and homelessness. 2014 Alberta Point-in-Time Homeless Count: Provincial Report. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://media.wix.com/ugd/ff2744_82ee4dec83f24f60a821cee54bec8990.pdf
- ⁴⁶ Sinnema, J. (January 27, 2016).Big-city mayors eager to collaborate with Alberta on housing, transit, poverty. *Edmonton Journal*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://edmontonjournal.com/news/local-news/big-city-mayors-eager-to-collaborate-with-alberta-on-housing-transit-poverty
- ⁴⁷ Raphael, D. Poverty. Income Inequality and Health in Canada. Centre for Social Justice Foundation for Research and Education. 2002. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.povertyandhumanrights.org/docs/incomeHealth.pdf
- ⁴⁸ Raphael, D. Poverty. Income Inequality and Health in Canada. Centre for Social Justice Foundation for Research and Education. 2002. Page 5. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.povertyandhumanrights.org/docs/incomeHealth.pdf
- ⁴⁹ Health Canada. Taking action on population health: A position paper for Health Promotion and Programs Branch Staff. Ottawa: Health Canada, 1998. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://publications.gc.ca/collections/Collection/H88-3-30-2001/pdfs/other/taph_e.pdf
- ⁵⁰ Akyeampong, E. B., (August 2002).Unionization and fringe benefits. Perspectives on Labour and Income. The online edition (Archived) Vol. 3, No. 8. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-001-x/00802/6328-eng.html
- ⁵¹ Statistics Canada. Table 282-0220 Labour Force Survey estimates (LFS), employees by union status, sex and age group, Canada and provinces, annual (persons unless otherwise noted), CANSIM (database). Retrieved February 1, 2016 from http://www5.statcan.gc.ca/cansim/a47
- ⁵² The Conference Board of Canada Hot Topics in HR. (January 20, 2014). The Rewards of Union Membership. Hot Topics in HR. Statistics Canada. Retrieved February 8, 2016 from http://www.conferenceboard.ca/topics/humanresource/commentaries/14-01-20/the_rewards_of_union_membership.aspx; Summary table Average hourly wages of employees by selected characteristics and occupation, unadjusted data, by province (monthly). Summary table. Retrieved February 8, 2016 from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/tables-tableaux/sum-som/l01/cst01/labr69j-eng.htm

- ⁵³ Akyeampong, E. B., (August 2002).Unionization and fringe benefits. Perspectives on Labour and Income. The online edition (Archived) Vol. 3, No. 8. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-001-x/00802/6328-eng.html
- ⁵⁴ Barnetson, B. (September 6, 2013).Making It Home: Alberta Workplace Injuries and the Union Safety Dividend. For the Parkland Institute. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.parklandinstitute.ca/making_it_home
- ⁵⁵ PSAC working energy. Market News. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.psac.ca/business/firstenergy/
- ⁵⁶ The Canadian Press. January 21, 2016, DBRS sounds alarm on Alberta borrowing; says limits to be blown this year. CBCnews. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/edmonton/dbrs-sounds-alarm-on-alberta-borrowing-says-limits-to-be-blown-this-year-1.3413544
- Mertz, E. (January 21, 2016). Alberta extends wage freeze to non-union employees in public service. *Global News*. Retrieved February 11, 2015 from http://globalnews.ca/news/2452049/watch-alberta-finance-minister-on-public-sector-cost-savings/; Dykstra, M. (January 13, 2016). Alberta government freezing pay for non-unionized senior government employees. *Edmonton Sun*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.edmontonsun.com/2016/01/13/alberta-government-freezing-pay-for-non-unionized-senior-government-employees
- 58 Shillington, R. (February 2016). An Analysis of the Economic Circumstances of Canadian Seniors. *Broadbent Institute*. Retrieved February 19, 2016 from https://d3n8a8pro7vhmx.cloudfront.net/broadbent/pages/4904/attachments/original/1455216659 /An_Analysis_of_the_Economic_Circumstances_of_Canadian_Seniors.pdf?1455216659
- ⁵⁹ Vermond, K. (January 19, 2016). Five signs you're counting too much on CPP for retirement. *Globe and Mail*. Retrieved February 8, 2016, from http://www.theglobeandmail.com/globe-investor/retirement/retire-taxes-and-portfolios/five-signs-youre-counting-too-much-on-cpp-for-retirement/article28239517/
- ⁶⁰ Beeby, D. (March 30, 2014). Finance Department study cites economics benefit of CPP expansion. *The Star*. Retrieved February 8, 2016 from http://www.thestar.com/news/canada/2014/03/30/finance_department_study_cites_economics_benefit_of_cpp_expansion.html

- ⁶¹ Alberta Government. Health. Continuing care Accommodation charges. Retrieved February 10, 2016 from http://www.health.alberta.ca/services/continuing-care-accommodation-charges.html
- ⁶² Local Authorities Pension Plan. 2014 Annual Report. LAPP. Retrieved from https://www.lapp.ca/about/publications/annual_reports/LAPP_Annual_Report_2014.pdf
- ⁶³ Labour Coalition on Pensions' Response. Government of Alberta "Charting a New Course: A Vision for Public Sector Pension Plans. December 2013.
- ⁶⁴ Smetanin, P., Stiff, D., Briante, C., Adair, C.E., Ahmad, S. & Khan, M. (2011). The life and economic impact of major mental illnesses in Canada: 2011 to 2041. RiskAnalytica on behalf of the Mental Health Commission of Canada. Retrieved February 8, 2016 from http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/system/files/private/document/MHCC_Report _Base_Case_FINAL_ENG_0.pdf.
- 65 Smetanin, P., Stiff, D., Briante, C., Adair, C., Ahmad, S., & Khan, M. (2011). The life and economic impact of major mental illnesses in Canada: 2011 to 2041. RiskAnalytica, on behalf of the Mental Health Commission of Canada. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/system/files/private/document/MHCC_Report _Base_Case_FINAL_ENG_0.pdf
- 66 Changing How We See Mental Illness: A report on the 5th International Stigma Conference. June 4-6, 2012. Ottawa. Together Against Stigma. Mental Health Commission of Canada. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/system/files/private/document/Stigma_Openin g_Minds_Together_Against_Stigma_ENG.pdf
- ⁶⁷ Hall, J. (Winter 2015).Rescuing first responders from PTSD. WorkSIGHT. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from
- http://www.wcb.ab.ca/pdfs/employers/worksight/Winter_2015_Rescuing_First_Responders.pdf
- ⁶⁸ Heroes are Human | The Tema Conter Memorial Trust, Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.tema.ca/#!inthenews/cro3
- ⁶⁹ Office of the Auditor General of Alberta. (July 2015). Health Alberta Health Services Systems to Manage the Delivery of Mental Health Services. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from https://www.oag.ab.ca/webfiles/reports/OAG%20Report%20July%202015.pdf

⁷⁰ CBC News (December 8, 2015). Suicide rate in Alberta climbs 30% in wake of a mass oilpatch layoffs (December 8, 2015). *CBC News*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/calgary/suicide-rate-alberta-increase-layoffs-1.3353662.

- ⁷¹ Carver, J., Cappelli, M., Davidon, S., Caldwell, W., Belair, M., Vloet, M. (2015) Taking the Next Step Forward: Building a Responsive Mental Health and Addictions System for Emerging Adults. Prepared for Mental Health Commission of Canada. Retrieved February 9, 2016 from http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/system/files/private/document/Taking%20the %20Next%20Step%20Forward.pdf
- ⁷² First Nations and Inuit Health: Mental Health and Wellness. (2016). Retrieved January 27, 2016, from http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fniah-spnia/promotion/mental/index-eng.php
- ⁷³ Statistics Canada. 2016. Lifetime suicidal thoughts among First Nations living off reserve, Métis and Inuit aged 26 to 59: Prevalence and associated characteristics. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 89-653-X. Ottawa. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-653-x/89-653-x2016008-eng.htm.
- ⁷⁴ Carver, J., Cappelli, M., Davidon, S., Caldwell, W., Belair, M., Vloet, M. (2015) Taking the Next Step Forward: Building a Responsive Mental Health and Addictions System for Emerging Adults. Prepared for Mental Health Commission of Canada. Retrieved February 9, 2016 from http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/system/files/private/document/Taking%20the %20Next%20Step%20Forward.pdf
- ⁷⁵ Mental Health Commission of Canada. Why investing in mental health will contribute to Canada's economic prosperity and to the sustainability of our health care system. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://strategy.mentalhealthcommission.ca/pdf/case-for-investment-en.pdf
- ⁷⁶ Mental Health Commission of Canada. The Facts. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://strategy.mentalhealthcommission.ca/the-facts/
- ⁷⁷ Smetanin, P., Stiff, D., Briante, C., Adair, C., Ahmad, S., & Khan, M. (2011). The life and economic impact of major mental illnesses in Canada: 2011 to 2041. RiskAnalytica, on behalf of the Mental Health Commission of Canada. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/system/files/private/document/MHCC_Report _Base_Case_FINAL_ENG_0.pdf
- ⁷⁸ "A mental injury (or mental suffering) is harm to a person(s) for which some other person(s) is held responsible in whole or in part. It can take the form of either mental distress or mental illness. Mental injury results from negligent, reckless or intentional acts or omissions."-Samra35

- J., Gilbert, M., Bilsker, D. (2009) Distinguishing Mental Injury, Mental Distress & Mental Illness. Consortium for Organizational Mental Health Care (COMH) Retrieved February 8, 2016 from http://www.guardingmindsatwork.ca/docs/Distinguishing%20Mental%20Injury%20Mental%20 Distress%20and%20Mental%20Illness.pdf
- ⁷⁹ Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2010). The Shain Reports on Psychological Safety in the Workplace A Summary. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/node/493
- ⁸⁰ Occupational Health Clinics for Ontario Workers (2012). Mental Injury Tools for Ontario Workers. Action on Workplace Stress: Mental Injury Prevention Tools for Ontario Workers, Part 2 "Workplace Stress": Assumptions, Terminology, and Approaches. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.ohcow.on.ca/uploads/mit/pdf/mit%20part%202.pdf; Mental Health Works. Isn't stress just part of any job? Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.mentalhealthworks.ca/isnt-stress-just-part-of-any-job/
- ⁸¹ Shain, M., Nassar, C. (Revised February 21, 2009). Stress at Work, Mental Injury and the Law in Canada: A Discussion Paper for the Mental Health Commission of Canada. Submitted to the Mental Health Commission of Canada via the Advisory Committee on Mental Health in the Workforce and the Advisory Committee on Mental Health and the Law. Retrieved February 8, 2015 from
- $http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/system/files/private/Workforce_Stress_at_Work_Mental_Injury_and_the_Law_in_Canada_ENG_0.pdf$
- 82 Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. (n.d.) Mental Illness and Addictions: Facts and Statistics. Retrieved February 8, 2016 from http://www.camh.ca/en/hospital/about_camh/newsroom/for_reporters/Pages/addictionmentalh ealthstatistics.aspx
- ⁸³ Sairanen, S., Matzanke, D., & Smeall, D. (2011). The business case: Collaborating to help employees maintain their mental well-being. Healthcare Papers, 11, 78–84. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.longwoods.com/content/22413.
- ⁸⁴ Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2010). The Shain Reports on Psychological Safety in the Workplace – A Summary. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/node/493
- ⁸⁵ Occupational Health Clinics for Ontario workers. Mental Injury Tools for Ontario Workers. Action on Workplace Stress. A Workers Guide to Addressing Workplace Causes of Mental Distress. Retrieved February 8, 2016 from http://www.ohcow.on.ca/MIT.

- ⁸⁶ Standards Council of Canada (2013). Psychological health and safety in the workplace—prevention, promotion, and guidance to staged implementation. (CSA Group and BNQ Publication No. CAN/CSA-Z1003-13/BNQ 9700-803/2013 National Standard of Canada). Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://carleton.ca/healthy-workplace/wp-content/uploads/National-Standard-CAS-Z1003.pdf
- ⁸⁷ Office of the Auditor General of Alberta. (July 2015). Health Alberta Health Services Systems to Manage the Delivery of Mental Health Services. Retrieved from https://www.oag.ab.ca/webfiles/reports/OAG%20Report%20July%202015.pdf.
- ⁸⁸ Sinnema, J. (January 12, 2016). Alberta mental health review now in health minister's hands; Wildrose calls for system boost. *Edmonton Journal*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://edmontonjournal.com/news/local-news/alberta-mental-health-review-now-in-health-ministers-hands-wildrose-calls-for-system-boost
- ⁸⁹ Boardman, Anthony E; Vining, Aidan R "A Review and Assessment of Privatization in Canada" SPP Research Papers, Volume 5, Issue 4, January 2012, at page 3. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.policyschool.ucalgary.ca/sites/default/files/research/boardman-vining-privatization.pdf
- ⁹⁰ Loxley, J. (June 2012). Asking the Right Questions: A Guide for Municipalities Considering P3s. Canadian Union of Public Employees.
- ⁹¹ McKenna, B. (November 18, 2015). Liberals drop public-private requirement for infrastructure funding. *The Globe and Mail*. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.24news.ca/the-news/economic-news/179416-liberals-drop-public-private-requirement-for-infrastructure-funding
- ⁹² Henton, D. (November 12, 2015). NDP assessing P3 potential for major construction projects. Calgary Herald. Retrieved from Informart.
- ⁹³ Barnes, S. Roche, B. Health Impacts of Contracting Out. Policy Brief for the Wellesley Institute, April 2015. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.wellesleyinstitute.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/Health-Impacts-Of-Contracting-Out.pdf
- ⁹⁴ Barnetson, B. (September 2015).Illegal and Injurious: How Alberta Has Failed Teen Workers.
 For the Parkland Institute. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://s3-us-west 2.amazonaws.com/parkland-research-pdfs/illegalandinjurious.pdf; Barnetson, B. (September 6, 2013).Making It Home: Alberta Workplace Injuries and the Union Safety Dividend. For the Parkland Institute. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from
 http://www.parklandinstitute.ca/making_it_home

95 Joint Industry, Labour and Government Strategy on Workplace Health and Safety. (Updated March 6, 2009). Preparing 21st Century Workforce Strategies: Young Worker Three-Year Strategic Plan: 2009-2012. Work Safe Alberta. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from https://work.alberta.ca/documents/WHS-WSA_yw-strategy09-12.pdf

- ⁹⁶ Barnes, S. Roche, B. Health Impacts of Contracting Out. Policy Brief for the Wellesley Institute, April 2015. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.wellesleyinstitute.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/Health-Impacts-Of-Contracting-Out.pdf
- ⁹⁷ Stunden Bower, S.; Campanella, D. From Bad to Worse: Residential Elder Care in Alberta. Parkland Institute. November 6, 2015. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/parkland-research-pdfs/frombadtoworse.pdf
- ⁹⁸ The Trade Union Act, R.S.S. 1978, c. T-17 (repealed by Chapter S-15.1 of the Statutes of Saskatchewan, 2013 (effective April 29, 2014)), at section 37.1.
- ⁹⁹ Office of the Auditor General of Alberta. (October 2014). Health and Alberta Health Services Seniors Care in Long-term Care Facilities. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from https://www.oag.ab.ca/webfiles/reports/October%202014%20Report.pdf
- Canadian Medical Association (August 2015). A Policy Framework to Guide a National Seniors Strategy for Canada. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.caep.ca/sites/caep.ca/files/caep/files/final_policy_framework_eng_--aug24.pdf
- Ottawa: The Board; 2015. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://seniorshealthknowledgenetwork.ca/sites/seniorshealthknowledgenetwork.ca/files/7025_C aringforSeniors-RPT.PDF
- ¹⁰² Alberta Health Services Annual Report 2014-2015. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/assets/about/publications/ahs-pub-2014-2015-annual-report.pdf
- ¹⁰³ Health Quality Council of Alberta. (October 2015).Long term care family experience survey report: provincial results. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from https://d10k7k7mywg42z.cloudfront.net/assets/5654b8e9a0b5dd060e365922/HQCA_LTC_Provincial_Report_1124.pdf
- Canadian Union of Public Employees. (October 2009). Residential Long-Term Care in Canada
 Our Vision for Better Seniors' Care. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from
 http://cupe.ca/sites/cupe/files/CUPE-long-term-care-seniors-care-vision.pdf

- ¹⁰⁵ Alberta Health Services Annual Report 2014-2015. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/assets/about/publications/ahs-pub-2014-2015-annual-report.pdf
- ¹⁰⁶ Stunden Bower, S.; Campanella, D. (November 2013).From Bad to Worse: Residential Elder Care in Alberta. Parkland Institute. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/parkland-research-pdfs/frombadtoworse.pdf
- ¹⁰⁷ Alberta Populations by Census Division, 2015 2041. (July 31, 2015). Treasuring Board and Finance Office of Statistics and Information Demography. Government of Alberta. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.finance.alberta.ca/aboutalberta/population-projections/2015-2041-alberta-population-projections.pdf
- ¹⁰⁸ Alzheimer Society Canada. Dementia Numbers in Canada. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.alzheimer.ca/en/About-dementia/What-is-dementia/Dementia-numbers
- ¹⁰⁹ Canadian Medical Association (August 2015). A Policy Framework to Guide a National Seniors Strategy for Canada. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.caep.ca/sites/caep.ca/files/caep/files/final_policy_framework_eng_--aug24.pdf
- ¹¹⁰ Alberta Populations by Census Division, 2015 2041. (July 31, 2015). Treasuring Board and Finance Office of Statistics and Information Demography. Government of Alberta. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://www.finance.alberta.ca/aboutalberta/population-projections/2015-2041-alberta-population-projections.pdf
- ¹¹¹ Office of the Prime Minister. (2015) Minister of Health Mandate Letter. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from http://pm.gc.ca/eng/minister-health-mandate-letter
- ¹¹² FMC Canada's Aging Population: The municipal role in Canada's demographic shift. Ottawa. Federation of Canadian Municipalities. Retrieved February 11, 2016 from https://www.fcm.ca/Documents/reports/FCM/canadas_aging_population_the_municipal_role_i n_Canadas_demographic_shift_en.pdf

LC/ajs/cope491